Holocaust Exhibit at the Vilna Gaon Museum
Audioguide
The Holocaust exhibit, housed in the Green House on Pamėnkalnio street in Vilnius, is a part of the Vilna Gaon Jewish State Museum.

The Vilna Gaon Jewish State Museum was established in 1990. Its function is to collect, conserve, study and exhibit the material, historical and spiritual cultural heritage of Lithuanian Jews, traditional and contemporary Jewish art and documents and objects connected with the Holocaust. The main items from the museum collection are: objects of an historical value, ritual equipment, manuscripts, photographs, figurative and decorative artworks, the Jacques Lipschitz memorial collection and the Josifas Šapira archive. The museum is made up of several branches, including the Holocaust Exhibit, the Tolerance Centre, the Paneriai Memorial Museum, and the Jacques Lipschitz Jewish Museum in Druskininkai, plus a planned future Litvak Culture and Art Centre.

The Green House, the house housing the Holocaust Exhibit, hosted the first underground Lithuanian Communist congress back in 1918. From 1968 until 1990, the house was home to a branch of the Museum of the Revolution. After Lithuanian independence the Vilna Gaon Jewish State Museum was established here, in 1991. The Holocaust Exhibit at the Green House was the first such exhibit in Lithuania and the Baltic states. The founders of the Holocaust Exhibit were themselves Holocaust survivors, and include Rachel Margolis, Dmitri Gelpern, Rocha Kostanian, Eugenija Biber, Genrich Agranovski and Fania Brancovskaja. 
The Holocaust Exhibit provides a short introduction to the history and culture of the once quite populous Jewish people of Lithuania and a more comprehensive treatment of their destruction during World War II.

(1) Photograph “Fania Jochele’s family”

This is a portrait of the family of Fania Jochele Brancovskaja made in 1939, when Vilnius was given back to Lithuania. Until 1939, part of Fania’s family lived in Kaunas while she and her close family members lived in Vilnius, then part of Poland. The photograph shows their reunion. The family portrait in our museum symbolizes the tragedy of the Holocaust, because of the people pictured, only two survived, namely, Fania and her aunt Niusia.

(2) Map “Jewish Mass Murder Sites in Lithuania

Around 220,000 Jews lived in Lithuania before World War II. Almost every small town and settlement had a Jewish community.

In the summer and fall of 1941, Lithuania became the Nazi’s testbed for their plan to perpetrate genocide against all Jews in Europe. About 80% of Lithuanian Jews were murdered over the course of those few months. The perpetrators included local police, prison personnel, white armbanders and volunteers as well as German Nazis. The mass murder sites were located near settlements in forests, old Jewish cemeteries, fields, quarries and other kinds of locations. There are about 250 mass murder sites in Lithuania. One of the most important documents testifying to the rapidity of the extermination of the Jewish communities of Lithuania and other countries is a report made by German Security Police and SS officer Karl Jaeger, dated December 1st, 1941. 
(3) Charter of Rights to the Jews of Trakai
It is believed the first Jews, merchants, arrived in the Grand Duchy of Lithuania and settled in 1326, invited to do so by Lithuanian Grand Duke Gediminas. There were already thriving Jewish communities in Lithuania by the 14th century, according to historical sources. The charter, or privilegija, Vytautas the Great issued granted Jews the right to settle in Lithuania in perpetuity and regulated their relations with Christian society. The charter was confirmed by later grand dukes.

(4) Photograph “Interior of the Great Synagogue of Vilnius before World War II”

The Great Synagogue of Vilnius was the most important Jewish cultural and spiritual centre in Lithuania from the 16th century until the 1950s, when the Soviet government issued an order to tear down the final remnants left after comprehensive destruction in World War II. The building was in the style of mediaeval Western European syngoagues, with four massive columns inside, a vaulted ceiling and a floor about 2 metres below ground. Numerous smaller synagogues and houses of prayer, from 11 to 13 of them, sprang up around the Great Synagogue over time, to include the famous Strashun Library as well. The courtyard, surrounded by religious buildings and featuring a ritual bath and a community well, was called the Shulhoyf. The Vilna Gaon prayer house was part of this complex.

(5)  Plaque “Vilna Gaon Elijah ben Shlomo Zalman and Yitzhak Elkhanan Spektor“
Vilnius became world-famous as a centre of traditional Eastern European Jewish culture because of Elijah Zalman. It was called the Jerusalem of the North whither Jews flocked from around the world in order to study. The Vilna Gaon was an 18th century Jewish thinker, writer of commentary on the Torah and Talmud and a reformer of methods for studying the holy scriptures. Until his arrival, the whole of Jewish education consisted of studying the Torah and Talmud, a pursuit to which Jewish men dedicated their lives. The Gaon also believed in the importance of these studies, but said that in order to understand scripture better, a person needed to know mathematics, history and foreign languages. He directed attention to the secular sciences. At that time this was the equivalent of a revolution in Jewish thinking.

The Gaon’s legacy is impressive: not only did he write commentary on virtually all passages of Torah and Talmud, but also studied and wrote on commentaries on different sciences and disciplines, including trigonometry, astronomy, geography and medicine, as well as writing a short Hebrew grammar. He was a legend in his own lifetime and exerted a major influence on Jewish cultural life well into the 20th century. The Haskalah educational movement, active in Lithuania in the 19th century, developed on the foundation of his teachings.

(6) Photograph “YIVO”

The Jewish Studies Institute, YIVO, was established in 1925 and quickly became the largest and most famous Jewish scientific institute in the world. YIVO conducted broad research across all domains of Yiddish culture, including history, linguistics, literature, folktales, economics, statistics, psychology and pedagogy. Albert Einstein and Sigmund Freud were honorary members of the YIVO board of directors, along with many other famous personalities. The institute had branches in Berlin, New York and Buenos Aires.

When the Nazis occupied Lithuania in 1941, the institute was closed, and its headquarters were relocated to New York, where it still operates. Vilnius ghetto prisoners collected part of YIVO’s valuable collections, and this portion was shipped to Nazi Germany. After the war was over, it was returned to YIVO, now based in New York. The majority of these collections, priceless documents, were destroyed. The former headquarters located on Vivulskio Street in Vilnius didn’t survive the war, either: it was bombed in 1944.

(7) Photograph “Members of Jung-Vilne”

This is a group portrait of members of the Vilnius-based group of young Jewish writers and artists called Jung-Vilne. The group included Jewish writers who did daring new things with the Yiddish language and leading-edge artists. Both the literary and artistic wings were characterized by a modernist and expressionist aesthetic sensibility. The hard core of the group was made up of the writers Leizer Wolf, Moishe Levin, Elkhanan Vogler, Chaim Grade, Shmerke Kaczerginski and Avroam Sutzkever; and the artists Ben-Tzion Mikhtom, Rachel Sutzkever, Sheina Efron and others. The work of Chaim Grade and Avrom Sutzkever achieved world recogniztion after the war.

This display presents world-famous Lithuanian Jewish intellectuals, including artists Chaim Soutine and Jacques Lipshitz, the violinist Yascha Heifetz, the sculptor Mark Antokolski, creator of Esperanto Ludwik Zamenhof and the poet Moishe Kulbak.

Across the room, there is a bust of Tsemakh Shebad, the famous doctor and humanitarian from early 20th-century Vilnius. He became acquainted with the writer Korneyus Chukovsky in 1912, who was so enchanted by the doctor he used him as the prototype for the protagonist of his best-loved stories about Doctor Aybolit.

(8) Proclamation of July 4, 1941 

As soon as the Nazis occupied Lithuania, the persecution of Jews began. An endless stream of orders and bans were issued which restricted Jewish life. One such was the announcement made by Stasys Žakevičius, director of the citizens’ committee of the city of Vilnius, and Antanas Iškauskas, chief of the district Auxiliary Police, made public on July 4, 1941. The announcement forbade Jews to walk the streets from 6 in the evening until 6 in the morning and compelled Jews to wear a special indetification symbol.

(9) Metal Tag

The Nazi administration in Lithuania issued several documents demanding Jews wear identification signs. This is a metal tag which Vilnius ghetto prisoners were ordered to wear on February 7, 1943. It bears inscriptions including the ghetto prisoner’s prisoner number, gender and place of interment. Jews were ordered to wear the tag all the time.

(10) Photograph “Vilnius Ghetto Gates”

The Vilnius ghetto was set up on September 6, 1941. Initially there were two ghettos in Vilnius, a small and a large one. The Nazis herded about 40,000 people into them. In October that year the Nazis got rid of the smaller ghetto, where non-labourers had been concentrated, mainly the elderly and children. These people were murdered. The last stage of getting rid of the remaining larger ghetto began on September 23, 1943. Most of the women and children were sent to Nazi concentration camps and several hundred people were shot at Paneriai. The remaining men and women capable of performing further slave labour were sent to concentration camps in Latvia and Estonia.

There was a self-governance institution within the Vilnius ghetto called the Judenrat. It maintained contact between the Nazi administration and the ghetto inmates. This council had a number of bodies subordinate to it, including a labour department, health department, social welfare agency, housing department, a police force, a post office, schools, a hospital, workshops, a sauna, library, theatre and others.

The photo shows the entrance gates to the larger ghetto from the side of Rūdninkų Street. Lithuanian guards stood outside and ghetto police inside the gates. Body and bag searches were conducted at the gates, and through the gates people were sent to slave labour and to their murder at mass murder sites.

(11) Photograph “Items of People Murdered at Paneriai”

After the Germans occupied Vilnius, they noticed a liquid fuel storage facility which the Red Army hadn’t finished constructing next to the Paneriai railroad station. There were seven large pits already excavated there, and the Nazis decided to use them for mass murder operations. Mass arrests and mass executions of Jews began in mid-July.  Arrested Jews were taken to Paneriai and shot by German Security Police and the Lithuanian Special Squad. Around 70,000 people were shot at Paneriai, although that figure is tentative.

When the tide of war turned and the Germans began preparing for a withdrawal from Lithuania, they decided to hide the evidence of their mass extermination operations. A special group of prisoners including Vilnius ghetto inmates and POWs were ordered to dig up corpses and burn them. On April 15, 1944, twelve of the eighty members of the corpse-burning detail escaped through a 30-metre long tunnel they had dug underground over the course of two and a half months. Eleven of these twelve reached Soviet partisan groups.

(12) Fragment of Kazimierz Sakowicz’s Diary

Polish writer and journalist Kazimierz Sakowicz lived next to the mass murder site at Paneriai during World War II. Disturbed by what he saw, he began keeping a journal of events and statistics on various scraps of paper beginning in July of 1941. Later he stuffed these papers into a jar and buried it in the garden. The period the surviving fragments cover extends until November 1943.

The dates and numbers of victims recorded by Sakowicz are an important source for verifying the facts of the Holocaust in Lithuania. His journal has been published in English, Polish, German and Lithuanian.

(13) Photograph “Writing on Door: Nekome”

The white armbanders began an orgy of violence using axes, crowbars, saws and guns in the Slobodka neighbourhood of Kaunas, the old Jewish quarter, on June 24, 1941, and the mass murder continued until June 27th. They murdered more than 1,500 Jews, burned down several synagogues and incinerated about 60 buildings before it was done.

They murdered Akiva Puchert’s family in front of him. Mortally wounded, he wrote in his own blood on the door, “Yidn, nekome.” This means “Jews, take vengenace!” in Hebrew.
Another mass murder was committed at the Lietūkis garage in Kaunas. A photograph of this atrocity is presented in the same display, but around the corner.

(14) Photograph “Lietūkis Garage”

The mass murder committed at the Lietūkis Garage has achieved world-wide infamy as one of the worst atrocities ever committed against Jews. On June 27, 1941, about 60 Jewish men were tortured to death publicly, as passers-by watched. 

The display contains further documentation of this event and provides information about life in the ghettos of Kaunas, Šiauliai and Vilnius district.

One of the bloodiest mass murder operations in the Kaunas ghetto was dubbed The Great Aktion. There is a photograph documenting this operation – the photograph from Lietūkis garage.

(15) Photograph “Jews Marched to the Ninth Fort”

Some historians consider October 28, 1941, the bloodiest day in Lithuanian history. On that day, 27,000 Kaunas ghetto prisoners were ordered to Demokratų Square within the ghetto, where the Nazis selected their intended victims, seemingly without rhyme nor reason. About 10,000 Jews, including 4,273, were deemed unneccessary and sent the next morning to the Ninth Fort, where they were all shot in one day.

(16) Photograph “Wall Hiding Mass Murder”

A systemtic programme of mass murdering Jews began in July of 1941 at the Seventh, Fourth and Ninth Forts in Kaunas. German Gestapo and Lithuanian paramilitary under lieutenants Bronius Norkus, Juozas Barzda and Anatolijus Dagys were responsible for the mass murder.

Approximately 50,000 Jews were murdered at the Ninth Fort, of whom about 10,000 were transported from Austria, Germany and France.

(17) “Malina,” a Model of a Ghetto Hideout

Malina was the name given to hiding places where Jews sought to save their lives and those of their families. They were set up in basements, attics and other locations. Some were simple affairs, while others were equipped with supplies for hiding for a longer period. The malina model on display illustrates both the inventiveness of people and the horror Jews experienced during World War II. In order to hide, people had to crawl through a small hole under the stove and to a ladder, where they climbed down into a basement space. 

(18) School Bag

Jewish resistance to the Nazi policy of dehumanization was of a dual nature. The left side of the room details spiritual resistance, the right side armed resistance. 

The glass case contains the school bag of Vilnius ghetto prisoner Masha Rolnik, who carried the bag to the ghetto school. Ghetto prisoners stubbornly maintained their human dignity in a variety of ways. They established a host of social organizations and artistic and athletic associations. A professional drama theatre, choirs, a symphony orchestra and a library all operated amidst the death and suffering of the ghetto. Artistic and literary contests were held and a social welfare department, schools and other institutions were set up. Athletic competitions were held as well.

(19) Photograph “Boxing Match Medal”

Eighteen-year-old Norman Shneidman, a member of the Lithuanian youth boxing team before the war, won the boxing championship held in the Vilnius ghetto on May 18, 1943. He survived the Holocaust and continued his athletic career after the war.

(20) Photograph “Avrom Sutzkever and Shmerke Kaczerginski”

Avrom Sutzkever and Shmerke Kaczerginski were members of the writers’ and artists’ unions as well as the Jung-Vilne movement. They and other intellectuals trapped in the ghetto were tasked by the Nazis with sorting through files from the YIVO building in Vilnius. They were called di papirene brigade, or the Paper Brigade, in the ghetto. They escaped the ghetto and fought as Soviet partisans in the Rūdninkai Forest towards the end of the war.

(21) Hermann Kruk’s Diary
Polish writer and journalist Hermann Kruk set up and directed a library and was an active participant in educational and political life in the Vilnius ghetto. He kept a diary which is a daily record of the suffering of imprisoned Jews in the Vilnius ghetto and later at the Klooga concentration camp and other camps in Estonia. While he kept a record of the last years of his own life, he also attempted to record the attempted extermination of the Jewish people as a whole. He collected information from a wide network of sources within the ghetto. He and all the Jewish inmates at the same camp in Estonia were murdered just days before liberation by the Red Army in 1944.

(22) Chaim Zaidelson’s Binoculars

Underground resistance organizations operated in the Vilnius, Kaunas, Šiauliai and Švencionys ghettos from the start of 1942. Resistance mostly meant sabotage: blowing up railroads and Nazi trains. Most Jews who escaped the ghettos and camps in Lithuania joined units of Lithuanian and Bellorussian Soviet partisans. Kaunas ghetto fighters formed a separate unit of about 200 troops called Death to the Occupiers in the Rūdninkai Forest. Vilnius ghetto fighters joined four groups in the Rūdninkai Forest, called For Victory, Avenger, Death to Fascism and Struggle. These included about 260 partisans. Almost 2,000 Jews escaped and reached the Soviet partisans.

The binoculars belonged to Vilnius ghetto prisoner turned Rūdninkai Forest partisan Chaim Zaidelson.

(23) Poem by Hirsh Glik

Hirsh Glik was still a teenager when he was impriosned in the Vilnius ghetto. He belonged to an association of young writers called Young Forest. In 1942 Glik wrote a poem called Never Say. Setting it to a popular melody, he sang it at a meeting of the underground Vilnius ghetto resistance leaders. The song was acclaimed by all and quickly became the anthem of Lithuanian Jewish partisans. Later it came to symbolize the Jewish partisans throughout Europe. Take a listen.

(24) Plan to Escape through the Sewers

In February of 1943, the Vilnius ghetto partisan leadership, the FPO, sensed the destruction of the Jews was imminent and felt earlier plans for armed resistance would be futile. They were looking for ways to save themselves. The Nazis began the destruction of the Vilnius ghetto on September 23, 1943. More than 100 FPO fighters were trapped inside the ghetto. The commanders, led by Abba Kovner, decided to bring people out through the sewer system. In the morning ghetto fighters took their weapons and entered down into the sewers through an opening in a building on Rūdninkų Street. The exit was on Švento Ignoto Street in the cellar of a ruined building. Samuel Kaplinski and 
Khyena Kaplinskaya led the column through.

(25) Photograph “HKP Sign”

This photograph shows a sign that stood next to the Church of the Apostles Peter and Paul in Vilnius. One of the Germans’ automobile service workshops, or HKP, was established on Olandų Street in Vilnius, under the direction of Karl Plagge. Even after the destruction of the Vilnius ghetto, some Jews were left alive, working for the Nazis at this facility. Karl Plagge is generally recognized as having helped these Jews survive.

(26) Photograph “People Who Saved Themselves from Death”

On April 21, 1943, SS leader Heinrich Himmler ordered the liquidation of all ghettos in Ostland. Jews still capable of being used as slave labour were ordered transported to concentration camps in Estonia and Latvia. In 1944 the concentration camps in Estonia were ordered closed. Some prisoners were sent to Stutthof concentration camp and to concentration camps in East Prussia. Most died there. In July of 1944 all the sick and elderly at Kivoli concentration camp in Estonia were murdered. The Ereda camp had been dismantled before that. On September 19, 1944, the mass murder of the inmates of the Klooga camp in Estonia began. Eye-witnesses testified about 2,500 Jewish prisoners were murdered there and their corpses were placed on biers of pine wood, doused with fuel and burned.

(27) Photograph “Soviet Trial of Lithuanian Collaborators”

Many Lithuanians who took part in the mass murder of Jews sought to flee the country after the war, but not all were successful. A trial took place in 1961, culminating in verdicts against the Lithuanians Pranas Matiukas, Jonas Palubinskas, Boleslovas Čirvinskas, Aleksas Raižius, Leonas Mecius, Juozas Kopūstas and Klemensas Skabickas. They were sentenced to death.

(28) Cross of Rescuing the Condemned

There were those who risked their lives and those of their families to help Jews condemned to death during World War II. To truly appreciate the deeds of these righteous people, one must keep in mind the penalty for rendering the slightest aid to Jews, never mind hiding them, was death.

In 1963 the Yad Vashem organization in Israel began issuing the award Righteous among the Nations to gentiles who saved Jews during the Holocaust. As of July 23, 2013, a total of 861 Lithuanians have been recognized as Righteous Gentiles.

The Lithuanian president’s office created a separate award, called Cross of Rescuing the Condemned, to reward rescuers of Jews at ceremonies on the Lithuanian Day of Remembrance of Jewish Victims of Genocide, September 23rd. These medals were awarded to 1,199 rescuers of Jews as of 2012.

(29) Photograph “Shmerke Kaczerginski at Jewish Museum with Books Saved from Vilnius Ghetto”

The Jewish community never recovered from extermination at the hands of the Nazis and Lithuanians during World War II. Only a small portion of those who escaped death and ended up scattered throughout Europe returned to Lithuania. The thriving shtetls and towns with Jewish majorities no longer existed, and the handful of surivors assembled in the larger cities, Vilnius and Kaunas. Jewish kindegartens and schools, and religious communities, were re-established. In 1946 the number of Jews living in Lithuania stood at about 10,000.

The writers Shmerke Kaczerginski, Leizer Ran and Avrom Sutzkever re-established the Jewish Museum which had operated before the war in 1944. In 1948, however, the Nazis’ policy of physically destroying Jews was replaced by Stalin’s ideology for the spiritual destruction of Jews, and, among other Jewish institutions, the museum was closed. For four decades there were no Jewish institutions in Lithuania.

(30) A Sharpening Stone, Made from a Jewish Headstone

Jewish cemeteries were not maintained appropriately during the Soviet period in Lithuania. In some locations headstones were harvested as construction materials. This stone, used for sharpening blades, was found in a farm wall in the Anykščiai district. It comes from a Jewish headstone. Local people reported a Holocaust perpetrator had lived at the farm until 1972.

